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1. Name of Property

historic name _ Ricker, Nathan C., House

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number 612 West Green Street [N/A] not for publication
city or town _Urbana vicinity  N/A

slate _lllinois code |IL county Champaign__ code 019 Zip code 61820

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby cerlify that this X nomination request for

determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Histonic Places and meets the procedural a

professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my apinion, the property X meets _ does not meet the National Register Criteria. | recommen.

that this property be considered significant nationally slatewide )5 locally. ( See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
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Signature of certifying official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property
criteria. {

meels does not meet the National Register
See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of commenting or cther official o Date

State or Federal agency and bureau
4. National Park Service Certification

i, hereby certify that this property is: Signature of Keeper [Cate of Action

__entered in the National Register
____ Sec continuation sheet.
~ determined eligible for the
National Register
____ See continuation sheet.
_____determined not eligible for the
National Register
__removed from the National Register

) ather (explain):
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property {Check as many boxes as apply)
_X_private
____public-local
~ public-State
_ public-Federal

Category of Property (Check oniy one box)
_x_ building(s)
_ distnict
__ site
____sfructure
____ object

Number of Resources within Property

Contributing Noncontributing

1 0 buildings

0 0 sites

0 0 structures
o 0 objects

1 0 Total

Number of contributing rescurces previously lisied in the National
Register N/A

Name of related multiple property listing {Enter "N/A" if property is not part
of a multiple property listing.}

N/A

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from insiructions)
Cat: Domestic Sub: Single Dwelling

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions)
Cat: _Work in progress ~ Sub:
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7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions)
Queen Anne

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation Brick

roof Asphalt
walls Clapboard
Shingle

other Wood

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the
property on one or more continuation sheets.)

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register
listing)

A Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history.
x B Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

C Properly embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period,or method of construction or represents the work of .
master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lac
individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or i likely to yield information important in prehistory or history.
Criteria Considerations {Mark X" in all the boxes that apply.)

a owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes.

b removed from its original location.

¢ abirthplace or a grave.

d acemetery.

e a reconstructed building, object,or structure.

f acommemorative property.

g less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the
past 50 years.

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
Architecture
Education

Period of Significance _1892 - 1924 Significant Dates N/A
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Significant Person
{Complete if Criterion B is marked above)_Ricker, Nathan C.

Cultural Affiliation  N/A

Architect/Builder _Ricker, Nathan C. / Architect
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Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets )

9. Major Bibliographical References
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS3)

~ preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested.
_ previously listed in the National Register

____previously determined eligible by the National Register

_ designated a National Historic Landmark

__recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
__recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # __

Primary Location of Additional Data

____ State Historic Preservation Office
____ Ofther State agency

____ Federal agency

___ Local government

_x_University

~ Other

Name of repository: University of lllinois, School of Architecture, Ricker Library of Art and Architecture

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property Less thap one acre

UTM References {(Piace additional UTM references on a continuation sheet)

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

116 285269 44405303
2 o 4

B See continuation sheet.

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a
continuation sheet.}

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a
continuation sheet.)
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11. Form Prepared By

nameftitle Jamie Clapper

organization_University of lllinois at Urbana - Champaign / UP 327 date 16 October, 1689

street & number_311 W, Clark St. #304 telephone 217.356.3564

city or town Champaign _state Il Zipcode 61820

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets
Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.

A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage
Or NUMEerous resources.

Fhotographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.
Additional items (Check with the SHFO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
{Complete this itemn at the request of the SHPO or FPO.)

name _Preservation and Congervation Association__

street & number P.O. Box 2555, Station A telephone 217 359.7222

city or town_Champaign state 1L zipcode 61825

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being coflected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nonunate properties
for iisting or determine eligibility for listing, o list properies, and 10 amend existing listings. Responsé Lo this request is required to otitain a benefit in aceordan

with the Nationa!l Histaric Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.5.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporling burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including the time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Cirect comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this fom
to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service. P.0. Box 37127, Washinglon, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget

Paperwork Reductions Project {1024-0018), Washington, ©C 20503
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7. Description

Summary

The Nathan C. Ricker House built in 1892 is a single family, two-story, wood frame house
located on West Green Street, the main east-west corridor from the University of Illinois
campus to downtown Urbana. The house is located in a neighborhood comprised of late 19th
and early 20th century single and multi-family housing. The south facade of the house faccs
Green Street, which is lined with several mature trees. Coler Avenue, on the housc’s west
side also has mature trees. Vegetation appears on the house’s cast side; however, the rest of
the lawn 1s void of trees.

The massing is predomtnantly symmetrical on the west, north and south facades. The east
fagadc is asymmetrical. The main hipped shape of the roof is intersceted in the west facade
by a gabled projecting bay. On the south, a single bay gable projects from the hip form. The
east fagade has a projecting half-conical roof form and an angled ridge from the three sided
corner to the hip point. The north fagade has a two bay gable projecting from the main hip.
The Nathan C. Ricker House is finished in the Queen Anne style, which is apparent by the
irregular form, the many projecting bays, the exterior wall finishing, the front porch, and the
windows. The exterior of the house is covered with wood clapboard siding and wood
shingles. The entrance is on the west side of the house, in a projection facing south. There is
a curved herringbone brick walkway leading to the front poreh from Green Strect. The wood
front porch spans the west fagade and contains highly decorative post, railing and frieze.
Another similar but smaller porch appears on the north fagade located off the dining room.
The roof 1s covered with brown asphalt shingles and the foundation is brick. The interior has
spacious rooms arranged around a central hall. The rooms feature tall ceilings, and rich
woodwork; the from formal rooms have handsome fireplaces.

Exterior

The front/west fagade faces Coler Avenue. This fagade includes the laree full-facade front
porch with a wood balustrade, and tongue and groove wood flooring. The porch, which was
rehabilitated in 1997, 1s raised from grade and supported by brick foundation piers. Six steps
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located at the north and southwest sides of the porch provide access. The exterior finish on
the west side is white painted (primed) 4" clapboard. The gable bay contains an extcrior
covering of white painted overlapping wood sawn shingles. The foundation of the house is
the original brick foundation with two openings, below the porch on the west {fagade. Onc
opening is a wood frame, double-hung window with four-over-four lights.  The other
opening is a door. These openings were once accessed by chutes from the porch and were
used to supply the house with coal.

The west facade is divided into four bays. The north bay has a single replacement wood door
on the first story. The second story contains a wood double-hung window with one-over-onc
ligchts. The second bay has a stngle wood frame, double-hung window with onc-over-one
lights on the first floor. The sccond story opening is a smalier wood window, also double-
hung, with multi-lights over onc. The top light has a center of textured clear glass
surrounded by seven pieces of rosc and gold stained g¢lass.  The third bay is a central
projecting pavilion with a gabled roof. It contains a wood frame, multi-iight over one light
double-hung window, framed with sixteen pieces of stained glass in the top light, on the first
story; above is an identical window. The gabled section of the pavilion, above the sccond
story, contains a rectangular wood-{rame hopper window. The fourth bay on the west facadc
contains a reclangular wood frame awning window set high at cetling level on the first floor;
the second {loor opening is a wood double-hung window with one-over-one hghts.

The south facade facing Green Street is predominantly symmetrical. The mamn forms are a
two and one-half story projecting gabled bay and a three-sided bay turning the southeast
comer. The walls are mostly covered with white painted 4" horizontal clapboard, however
white painted overlapping sawn shingles are used m the semi-hexagonal bay. The basement
has one, two-light awning sash on the west side of the south [acade.

There is a south facing entrance located in the projecting {ront/west facing two and one-hall
story gabled paviltion section on the west porch. The door is a single entrance wooden door
with a large single light framed with egg and dart molding.

The western bay of the south facade contains three openings.  The first (loor opening 1s a
large double-hung wood one-over-one light window. Centered above the first [Toor window
is a pair of wooden onc-over-one hght, double-hung windows. The gable contains o three
light rectangular wooden hopper window.
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The eastern bay of the south facade is treated as a semi-hexagonal bay. One basement
window is centered in the angled section. The first and second stories contain triple window
sets. All windows are one-over-one hight double-hung, with the center or angled section’s
window being wider than the flanking windows. The roofline includes a shed wall dormer
with a horizontal wood frame, hopper window with decorative glass. The window has three
clear centerpieces with eighteen picces of rose and gold stained glass swrrounding them 1n a
geometric pattern.

Like the front and south facades, the east fagade reinforces the Queen Anne style through its
disrupted facade. A two-story semi-circular bay projects the main wall plane off center
forming an asymmetrical facade. The exterior is covered with white painted 4" clapboard
siding on the flat wall planes, and overlapping white panted sawn shingles on the semi-
circular bay. The arcas to the side of the windows are covered with linear sections of sawn
shingles. The basement contains two openings, one on the flat wall planc is covered with a
decorative iron grate painted to match the colors of the brick. and the other is a window
centered on the semi-circular bay.

All windows located in the east facade arc on the semi-circular projecting section. The first
floor section is consumed with a set of five onc-over-one double-hung windows; there 1s an
abbreviated set of three windows on the second story. Also visible on the cast {agadce 1s the
ornate side/north entrance porch. This porch, located to the right of the senui-circular bay,
contains detailing 1dentical to the west/{ront facade porch. The porch roof 1s steeply sloped
with a diagonal ridge which connects in the comer at the second story level.

The north fagcade of the Nathan C. Ricker House is divided mto two bays on the north/south
facing gable end, which dominates the facade. The exterior of the north facade 1s white
painted, clapboard wood siding on the first and second stories, and overlapping white painted
sawn wood shingles in the gable end. The foundation has two openings in line with the bays
of the fagade. The first bay has a single window opening covered with plywood; there 1s a
pipe projecting from the opening. The second opening, is a double wooden window.

The north facade's two bays are idenuical. Lach bay has one, doubic-hung, onc over one light
window aligned on the first and sccond storics. The gable has a paw of one over one light,
wooden double-hung windows, These windows are a recent replacement. Other elements on
the north facade include the porch off the dning room to the left of the two bay gabled
scetion, and the gabled basement entrance.  The original butkhead doors of the bascment
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entrance were replaced with a small, low-pitched gable frame entrance at grade sometime
after 1950. This alteration cuts across a portion of the left one-over-one, double-hung sash ol
the first story window pair. The modified bascment entrance is built upon the original
bulkhead's low wall, which cxtends out from the foundation, and on which the former
bulkhead doors were placed.

Other elements of the house include a continuous projecting corntce which goes across all
gables cxcept the front/west facing pavilion, and a continuous wood water table which
surrounds the entirc exterior just above the brick foundation wall. There arc also two rebuilt
red brick chimneys.

A one and one-half story carriage barn was oncc located on the north end of the property.
The garage entrance faced west towards Coler Ave. The carnage barn was first documented
in a 1909 Sanborn insurance map; when the housc was also first documented. The carra
barm was razed by the City of Urbana i 1993.

(,C

>

Interior

The Ricker House has eleven rooms and a full basement and attic. The house is currently
undergoing restoration, however, the interior details remain intact. The first {loor features
the house's family spaces including the parlor and living room, which are donunated by
richly trimmed windows and {ireplaces (figure 1). The dining room, kitchen and a bathroom
are also located on the first floor. The second floor includes the house's four bedrooms, one
bathroom and a trunk room. All the second story rooms have the same rich trimming as the
first floor rooms, but are less formal. The master bedroom ncludes a fireplace along the
west wall.

I'rom the exterior of the west facade, a single-light central {ront door opens nto the hallway
ofl of which the parlor, living room and dining room are accessed. All rooms on the {irst
floor have the same 5-1/2" pine window and door trim with bull's eye corner blocks, 10" pine
bascboard and 107 cetlings. "The {irst room on the right of the hali is the parfor. The parlor is
195 sq. ft. It has onc window in the west wall, one window in the south wall and a fireplace
i the northeast comer. The fireplace 15 38-1/27 wide with green tile surrounded by dark
stained oak. There 1s a beveled horizontal rectangular purror above the fireplace and green
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and maroon tiles in the hearth. A black iron grate decorated with an organtc pattcmn covers
the opening. The opening on the east wall leads to the living room.

The living room 1s 240 sq. fi. with three southeast facing windows and one fireplace. The
fireplace 1s 58 1/2” wide with brown tile surrounded by dark stained wood. There is a built
in cabinet with a mirror and shelves incorporated 1nto the mantelpiece. hearth 1s tile with onc
row having a decorative leaf pattern. There are three entrances to the living room. One is the
opening from the parlor; there is also a swinging door from the hall and a pocket door to the
dining room.

The dining room is 235 sq. ft. and has five windows aligned on the bay projection. There is a
door from the dining room onto the north porch. The door and transont along the north wall
appear original. There 1s also a swinging door from the hall into the dining room and an
opening from the dining room into a pantry area. The pantry area has been aliered to include
a 63 sq. ft. modern bathroom. The room includes onc north-facing window, which 1s 35-1/27
wide. Across {rom the pantry cntrance there 1s a historic, although non-original, built-in
counter with cabinets.

The kitchen 1s located west of the pantry. The 135 sq. [t kitchen has historic cabinets and a
built-in comer unit although they are not from the Ricker era. The kitchen has three exterior
openings. There are north and west facing windows and a west-facing door. There 1s also
another interior opening i the kitchen. The door on the south wall of the kitchen leads
across the top of the basement statrway nto the front hall.

The stairway in the front hall shows the high level of craftsmanship that went into the Nathan
C. Ricker House. The newel post is approximately 4" 11-1/2" 1all and 7-3/4" wide (figure 2).
It is constructed of dark wood with five squares recessed 1/8" mto the surfuce. The top
square is divided into {ive segments and 15 more decorative than the others. The top of the
newel post 1s essentially a pyranndal shape with bulging concave sides. 1t 1s 7-3/4" wide and
deep and sits on a 10-1/4" square base. The stairs are open rail with wood square balusters.
There 1s a landing above the entrance foyer with two more posts. These are simular to the
newel post, but smaller. The posts have six squares recessed /8" into the surface. The
recessed squares are all wdentical; the top one 1s equally as decorative as the other squarcs.
Also on the landing 1s a decorative window identical to the one m the entrance foyer.
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The first bedroom (bedroom 2} to the right at the top of the stairs is directly above the parlor
(figure 3). The baseboard, window and door trim is 1dentical to the tnm and baseboard down
stairs. Three windows illuminate this 160 sq. ft. room. Two windows face south and one
faces west. There is 2 walk-in closet on the east wall of the room, which connects to the
closet in the next room.

The southeast bedroom is the master bedroom. It i1s 235 sq. {t. and has a 48" ivory tile and
oak trimmed fireplace on the west wall. This room is directly above the living room down
stairs and has windows identical to the downstairs windows in the angled southcast corner.
There is another large closet located on the east wall of the room, just inside the entrance
from the hall.

Directly over the dining room is the third bedrooni. This bedroom is 155 sq. {i. Its rounded
projection has windows identical to those used in the projection of the room below, only
therc are two fewer. There 1s a walk-m closet in the northwest corner of the room. The
entrancce is through a small hall off the main hall on the room's west side.

The room (studio) in the northeast corner is located above the old paniry (currently a
bathroom). This 50 sq. fi. space differs from the other rooms because it uses a simpliticd
molding and trim. The room 1s small in size and therefore was probably uscd as a storage or
as a trunk room. There is one window 1n the north wall.

The fourth bedroom is located west of the storage/trunk room directly above the kitchen.
This is 110 sq. {t., the smallest bedroom and was probably used as a nursery or for gucsts.
The closet is on the east wall and the entrance is in the southeast cormner. There arc two
windows in the room -- one on the north wall and one on the west wall.

Located south of the fourth bedroom and above the kitchen 1s the 63 sq. {i. second {loor
bathroom. The bathroom is long and narrow with the entrance on the east wall and a
decorative stained glass window on the west wall above the bathtub.

South ol the bathroom is the staircase to the attic. Walls enclose the statrease on both sides,
and a door on the cast wall provides access. The Y25 sq. ft. attic 1s unlintshed. 1t remains one
large space without any room divisions. The raflers arc exposed, and the floor is partially
covered with tongue and groove wood {looring. Charring 1 the south gable shows evidence
of acirca 1917 fire.
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The basement is also 925 sq. fl. The basement 1s accessed by mterior stairs located between
the kitchen and the main hall, or exterior stairs on the north side of the house. The basement
is unfinished; it has a concrete floor and painted brick walis. Three rooms divide the
basement space. Two rooms are located to the west, and the castern most space is one large
room. Coal was stored in the southwest room. [t entered through two openings facing west.

Integrity

Nathan C. Ricker House retains its intcgrity. Outside of minor changes, little has been done
to alter its condition (figure 4). The exterior was sided with white aluminum siding, but 1t
has been removed n the last year, exposing the original clapboard and sawn shingles. Two
windows i the attic of the north facing gable section have been recently replaced with
modern sashes. Also on the north side, the cellar entrance was covered with a gable roofed
section sometime after the 1950's. In 1997, the front porch was restored and the supporting
brick posts were reconstructed.  The roof of the house has also recently undergone
rehabilitation.. The roof project was completed in 1998,

The interior of Nathan C. Ricker House has also been shightly modified through the years.
Carpeting now covers the original wood floors. Drop cetlings were added in the {irst floor
and the original window trim was cut when the ceiling was nstalled. The dropped ceilings
havc since been removed. After Ricker's occupation of the house. the room between the
kitchen and dining room was converted to a bathreom. This room was probably oniginally a
pantry or a breakfast room. Two short walls with a single door were added to make the
conversion. The kitchen has also been changed from its original appcarance. The original
cabincts have been removed and replaced.  Also, a built-in comer cabinet appears to have
been added. The interior basement staircase appears to have been added, but this could be a
historic alteration. The small passage from the front hall to the kitchen contains original
doorways, indicating that thc basement stairway was perhaps once storagce under the original
stairway to the sccond {loor. Joist pockcts visible in the opening for the stairway to the
basement also indicate that the stairs were added after the housc was constructed. Originalty,
the only entrance to the basement would have been from the ccllar doors on the north side of
the housc.
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The second floor of the house does not appear to have undergone spatial alterations. The
only change to the second floor appears to be the modernmization of the bathroom. In 1917, a
fire damaged the roof causing the attic framg to undergo repairs; some chatring remains on
the north gable.
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8. Statement of Significance

Summary

Nathan C. Ricker House meets Criterion B for statewide importance, due to its association
with Nathan C. Ricker. The areas of significance associated with the building are education
and architecturc because Ricker was both a pioneer in the area of architectural cducation and
the architcct of his home. The house's period of significance 1s {rom its construction in 1892
to Ricker's death in 1924, [thel Ricker, Nathan's daughter, continucd to own the house until
1927. Ricker's housc, located at 612 W. Green St. in Urbana. Hhnots, 1s the only known
residential building designed by him.

Nathan Clifford Ricker had a profound and lasting affect on the practice of architecture in
ilhnois, as well as the architectural education program at the University of Hlinois. He used
his Europcan experiencce to develep an mmnovative instruction foermat and mcorporated the use
of modern materials and technology into both his lesson plans and his building designs.
Ricker's combination of educational and practical knowledge guided him as he established
the architectural education program at the University of llinois. His program, which
emphasized technology, building design, construction, and history, is still utilized. In
addition to his educational achievements, legislation passed under Ricker's nfluencc
continues to guide the architectural licensing procedure in {linois. While the four National
Register-listed university buildings that Ricker designed remain as excellent testaments to his
significance as a designer, Ricker's housc at 612 West Green Street is the property which 1s
most pcrsonally associated with Ricker's productive life. The only known residence designed
by Ricker, the house served as Ricker's home from 1892 until the tme of his death in 1924.

Ricker held many important offices within the University of Illinois's College of
Engineering, including Dean, and Head of the Department of Architecture {now School of
Architecturc). Due to the status Ricker achieved during his residence at 612 W. Green, the
structure is most closcly associated with lus personal and professional hife. The only other
structures associated with Ricker are the buildings he designed for the university. While he
likely had a campus olfice {or offices over the years) where he conducted his university
dutics as an educator, adnunistrator and designer, no particular space has been identified as
having been Ricker's office.  Because the Department of Architecture and School of
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Engineering were located in University Hall then Engineering Hall, 1t is likely that Ricker
once had an office space in each building. Despite the amount of scholarly research that has
been done on Ricker, no office has been identified. Furthermore, a review of Champaign-
Urbana city directories over the years associated with Ricker's productive life, specifically
1885-1924, reveals only his residential address, which was 612 West Green Street, and his
current university title. A search of architects in the business directorics contained no office
listing for Nathan Ricker. Because of the accomplishments and status of Nathan C. Ricker
during his residence 612 West Green Street and the lack of an office space, the only
remaining structure associated with Ricker's productive life 1s his house.

Ricker's Early Years

Ricker's childhood exposure to education and his experience teaching at the country school
did much to set the stage for his life as an educator. His interest and skill in handicraflis
toreshadow his eventual involvement in the hicld of architecturce,

Ricker was born in Acton, Maine, a farming community, on June 24, 1843 His (irst day of
school is one of his noted memories, as well as his father tcaching him arithmetic using
apples, eggs and sheep. Ricker's memories also include the literature available to him as a
child and the difficulty of fann work. When Nathan was thirteen, his family moved so he
could attend high school in Springvale, Maine, ten miles from the Acton area. While
attending school, he worked i the shingle mill and ground corn. He remained in Springvale
untit he was twenty-one. °

During Ricker's high school years, his love of learning, academic talent and future potential
became evident. In The Story of a Life, Ricker recalls the supplies at the school, noting the
lack of a library. The only mentioned supplies were chalk, boards and a few maps. Onc
important event in Ricker's high school years was his success with spelling. Tlis success
attracted the attenuon of Ricker's father and aunt, and they came to the conclusion that, " . .
he might be worth (;ulli\.faling."3 The opportunity to teach at the country school arose m 1801
when he was cighteen vears old. Ricker said that his first experience with instruction was
“very enjoyable”; this experience allowed him to purchase books and continue his personal
studies in the evenings.
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This experience in high school was critical to Ricker's development of personal study and his
quest for knowledge not commonly available. Ricker taught himself French and Latin and
began his lifelong chore of translating books for his personal library. The skills and values
Ricker obtained during his high school years helped drive his later studies and achievements
at the university.

Before Ricker attended the university, he worked in Washington D.C., at his father's request.
During the interruption from his studies, Nathan was employed by the U.S. Commissary
from 1862-1863. This job 1s significant becausc it was his {irst expcricnce away from home.
Ricker said that no difficulties occurred during his stay.”

After his expcrience tin Washington D.C. Ricker returned home to Springvale to continuc
working in the mill and studying in the evenings. Ricker lcarned the skill of woodworking in
the mill during his free time and used these skills throughout lus life.  In 1864, he acquired a
position in a factory making piano cases. Ricker became skilled at this job and soon was
promoted. He held the piano case job for two-and-one-half years, then left his position in
1867 to go to La Harpe, in Hancock County, Illinois, 1o visit his uncle.”

Nathan's original intention was to work for a year while visiting his uncle. However, an
opportunity arose 1n 1808 for Ricker to purchase half interest in a wagon and blacksmith's
shop and Ricker left his previous job in carpentry to begin working at the shop. While he
was employed at the shop he met an IHinois Industrial University student home on holiday
vacation. This meeting changed the path of Ricker's hife. He developed an interest for
studies during his high school years and, through his previous jobs, developed skills n
craftsmanship. This combination of mterests led him to sell his part of the wagon and
blacksmith shop for $750 and go to Urbana, lllinois to pursue an education in architecture.”

Ilinois Industrial Universily

The responsibility given to Nathan C. Ricker during lus terms at Hinots Industrial University
established the beginning of his carcer as an educator. Ricker advanced from being placed n
change of his own education to becoming the head of one of the most noted architectural
schools in the United States.
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Ricker began his university education in 1870 during Illinois Industrial University’s sixth
term. The university appealed to Ricker as a chance to continue his education and further his
personal studies. When Ricker enrolled, there werc 147 men attending the school (women
were admitted the next year). When Ricker entered the university he was twenty-six, many
of his friends considered him too old to begin a college education and tried to discourage his
attendance; fortunately Ricker did not listen. Ricker mentioned n his autobiography that the
university was challenging in both its pace and living conditions. At that time, there were no
sports, proflessional or amateur, and there were no social clubs like fraternities.’

Ricker continued his interest in libraries; he mentioned that the library of the Illinois
Industrial University was small, and that one librarian placed a book on the Planiing of the
Christian Church with books on agriculture.® Perhaps it was this lack of knowledge about
books that inspired Ricker to develop an important architectural library.

Architecture was choscen as his course of study because ol s mterest in civil engineering
and expericnce In butlding. Ricker's {irst mstructor was James W. Bellangee, recruited from
the University of Michigan, and coursc work included mathcmatics for three years, German
for two, and as many classes as possible in drawing and rendering.” Ricker noticed
deficiencies in his courses and compensaled for them by reading architectural books in the
library. No one was able to evaluate his cxtra studies; howcever, he none the less received
credit. In order to have more time for studying, Ricker did not work in the school carpentry
shop much during the school term. He spent his vacation tuime in the workshop improving
his carpentry skills.'”

During Ricker's second year in 1871, he was ptaced in charge of the carpentry shop. His
duties included maintaining buildings and equipment. He mentions one project to convert an
old barn into a dormitory. He also instructed students in woodworking, and the proper use of
tools. Ricker's appointment to the carpentry shop conllicted with a course he was supposed
to attend 1n the Strength of Materials taught by Professor Robinson. To compensate for this
class, Ricker worked out the lessons on his own and submitied them to Professor Robinson
for evaluation. "' Again, this demonstrates Ricker's determination regarding his cducation.

In 1871 Ricker's first instruetor resigned and was replaced by Harold M. 1anson, a Swedish

professor who was cducated for two years at the German Berhin Bauakademie. Hanson
- - : S 12

madc an impression on Ricker who later became a student at the Bavakademic.
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Chicago became a destination for Ricker when he was went there as part of the university
corps to help restore order in 1871 after the great fire. Ricker’s association with Captain
Rickard's sixth regiment Illino1s National Guard was his only military experience. Perhaps it
was due to his visit to Chicago that Ricker decided to postpone graduation and seek office
experience in Chicago during the spring and summer of 1872, Ricker was employed by J.W.
Roberts, an architect whose office was located in the upper story of a mansion on the cormer
ol Wabash and Harrison. Ricker's first job for Roberts was to review the plans for the Briggs
Housc, a Chicago hotel, to ensure that each bedroom had a separate flue in the wall. Ricker
also designed the name plaque for the hotel, which was deeply cut into a large stonc on the
building's south facade.” Ricker gained expericnce dealing with clients who did not
understand architectural drawings. It became his duty to translate these drawings to the
client so the client could then determine whether the plans suited him.  During times of
leisure Ricker observed the work conducted in the office. At a time when work was rapidly
finished, Ricker probably observed many projccts through to complction. In lis writings
Ricker refers to the Chicago experience as, . a greal practical training, pcrhaps not
cqualed since the burning of Rome.""”

Ricker retumed 1o Urbana for the fall 1872 term to {ind that Professor Hanscn was abscnt
due to illness. University President John Milton Gregory asked Rickerto take charge of the
architecturc curriculum including threc students, as wcll as his own coursc work. This
arrangement satisfied President Gregory who asked Ricker to remain in charge for the next
two terms of 1872-73. Gregory also offered Ricker an appointmient as the head ol the
architecture program starling September 1, 1873, contingent on a six-month travel/study
period in Europe prior to the appointment. Ricker was also required to complete his course
work and graduate at the end of winder term 1872, Ricker did graduate in 1872, and was the
first graduate of an American school of architccture.”

Ricker in Europe

Ricker's European experience was criticai in his future devclopment of the architectural
prouram at the University of lllinois. Insicad of foliowing the teachings of the Lcole Des
Beaux Arts, he incorporated courses and teachimg styles that the observed at the
Bauakademie in Berlin.
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Ricker sailed for Europe in the company of President Gregory and Gregory's lamily and
friends. The ship landed in Glasgow, and Ricker spent almost a month traveling to London,
Harwich, Rotterdam, Antwerp, Brussels and Cologne beflore arriving in Berlin April 1, 1873.
Ricker had chosen Berlin bccausc of his former profcssor, and because the German
instructional system represented the American system m that it was based on individual
accomplishment and examinations. Ricker believed the instruction in Berlin to be superior
to the instruction of French schools. The Bauakademic was an architecture and engineering
school tcaching courses in all branches of engincering including agricultural.  Architecture
had a total enrollment of 250 students.'”

To prepare for his appointment m Illinois, Ricker spent nearly three months obscrving the
Bauakademie's instructional methods, teaching tools, and library.  Ricker was very
impressed with the library, and commenting that it was, " . large and very wvaluable,
affording a good acquaintance with the best standard works on architecturc and art.*'’
Ricker also commented on the tcaching tools emiployed at the Bauakademic. He made notes
on thce mstruction and retined the methods for use at 1liinois.  Ricker made other
obscrvations including how students passed on to a proiessional carcer through examination.
and how students could become professors by obtaming a doctorate degree, publishing books
and becoming distinguished in their profession. Ricker noted that sophomore students took
fourteen different subjects. He also noticed that professors were only paid for lecturing and
thercfore did not answer student’s questions or offer other help; professors even prohibited
non-students to sit in on lectures. Ricker found fault with this strict form of lecturing which
deviated from the American custom.'® This prompied Ricker to expernment with his
tcaching style.

After his observation ol the Bauakademie, Ricker continued to travel. He visited Saxony to
study the art and architecture of Dresden; he believed the paintings there o be superior to
thosc at the Louvre. An attempt was made to mcet President Gregory at his request at the
Vienna Exposition, however, due to mail delay and transportation problems; Ricker arrived
after President Gregory had left for Italy. Regardless, Ricker spent ten days studying the
Exposition and the architecture of the city. One of his favonrite exhibits was the Russian
system of shop practice in mechanical engineering,.

Ricker madc rather detailed architectural observations on the development of Vienna and

Ring Street. He commented that Ring Street 1s one of the most beautiful in the world and 1s
. . . - P, - - - .. . 19

supcrior to the boulevards 1n Paris. After visiting the Exposition, Ricker visited Prague.
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Ricker made his trip to Paris before the end of term at the Bauakademic; therefore, he missed
the examination period. The Paris visit lasted ten days including one day spent in Versailles.
Ricker observed and noted the difference in the historic buildings and the current
architecture in the French Second Empire style. Ricker passed through Roucen before a ten-
day trip to London. After London Ricker visited Glasgow, York, and Edinburgh before
returning to Illinois to begin instruction.™

Ricker summarized his travels as a very valuable experience. In his writing, Ricker reflects

on the organization and instruction of the German Bauakademie, and on its library, which

provided him the knowledge to establish an architectural library at the University of
L2

[linots.

Ricker as an Instruclor

Nathan C. Ricker was thirty years old i 1873 when he started his first term as head of the
University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign Department of Architecture. One of Ricker's {irst
observations was the lack of suitable textbooks to aid the students. He also noticed that the
students werce not responding to the lecture system, and 1t was impcrative to find a new form
of instruction. His job as head of the department was very demanding. Ricker describes his
dutics:

Further the young instructor {Ricker) was requited to teach all studies in
architecture according to the programme given, to assist for the st year m
freehand drawing, to teach projection and descriptive, supervise the shop,
furnish gratis all sketches and drawmgs for new butldings. as well as to make
occasional surveys and levels for drains and put i a sewer system when needed.
Therefore he had sufticient work laid out to keep him busy.:"

In addition to other duties, Ricker also developed a library and texts for his students. Ricker
purchased an early 'Remington machine' used for printing, and devised 2 way for students to
print texts. The texts consisted of orngmal works for subjects such as construction, history.
and graphic statics and some translations from German and IFrench books when onc was
found to be appropriate.  Approximately two thousand lctter size pages were collected and
used. Tius process was so mmportant that a laboratory wus dedicated 10 1t 1 the new
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Engineering Hall (1894) so this work could also beneﬁl‘ the Coilege of Engincering. Later,
entire foreign books werc translated for use by students.™

Other changes made in the department included additional course offerings. In 1874,
Graphic Statics was introduced; until then the class had only been offered at the University
of Michigan and Yalc University. Another newly introduced class was Russian shop
practicc which was adapted to wood work and began instruction in 1875  (The
introduction ol the Russian shop practice class was hkely due to Ricker's observation of
Russian shop practices at the Vienna Exposition.)

Ricker as Dean of Engineering

In 1878 at the age of thirty-five, Ricker was clected Dean of the College of Engineering to
replace a collcague, Professor Robinson, who moved to Ohto. Deans formed an executive
committee of the faculty called the Council of Administration; this legislative body
represented the final authority of the university.” :

During his term as Dean, Ricker won an appropriation for the College of Enginecring to be
used for two years worth of maintenance and equipment. The total sum was $150,000.
Later the appropriation was changed so that 375,000 was to be used for maintenance and
equipment, and the other $75,000 was to go to a new use suggested by the Dean. Keeping in
mind the Agricultural Experiment Station, Ricker suggested an Engineering Experiment
Station. The idca was approved and, thanks to Dean Ricker, the nation's first engineering
experiment statton was [ormed at the University of Ilhnois.  This experiment station
produced such work as the ™ . . . great achicvements of Professor Talbot in the practical study
and development of formulas and methods in reinforced concrete.""

Ricker is also credited with starting the School of Architecture's slide hbrary. Ricker
requested the purchase of and was granted an clectric lantern and five hundred slides. After
developing lectures to accompany the slides, he was granted the purchase of ten thousand
shides as well as other mounted images. Ricker continued to give lectures associated with
these shides until his retirement from the dcpanmcm.n

Ricker developed the school's library. He convineed University President Draper that hibrary
funds were insufficient for the Departmcnt of Architecture, which rehed heavily on books.
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President Draper appropriated most of the equipment fund for the School of Architecture for
books and journals. The selection of books for the library began and continued for roughly
thirty years.”® Even in Ricker's time it was considered the best of its kind in the country; the
library remains an amazing asset to the School of Architecture. The books were well chosen
duc to Ricker's immense knowledge of books and his observation of the library at the
Bauakademie m Berlin. The school recogmized Ricker's commitment of the fibrary by
naming it the Ricker Library of Art and Architecture in 1917.

Another innovation Ricker made, as Dean ol the College of Engineering, was to establish a
{our-year program for Architectural Engineers. This program was e¢stablished in 1890, and
was the first of its kind in the country. The program was developed due o Ricker's
realization that somc students were prone to design, and others were pronc to higher
mathematics, but few students were capable of both. This new program was aimed at the
development of those interested 1n construction since the active architecture program
developed designers.  After the establishment of the new program, students were equallv

v

‘o - o 29
divided between the two; graduates of both programs became successful pracutioners.

Ricker continued his personal education even as he was named Dean of the College of
Engineering. In 1878, the ycar he was appointed Dean Ricker again graduated from the

. - - - - 30
school of architecture, this time with a Masters Degree in Architecture.

Ricker's Other Contributions to Architecture

Ricker resigned his position as Dean of the College of Engineering in 1906 after twenty-
seven vears of service. He was awarded the honorary degree of Doctor of Architecture 1n
1909.2" In 1911, after his wife's death, he retired from the School of Architecture. Ricker
had spent a total of forty-four years in charge of the school, and was awarded the status of
Professor Emeritus for his achievements. Ricker made many contributions to Architecture
outside of his amazing service ai the University of Illimois. His achicvements included
rescarch, translations of foreign architecture books and scrvice on professional boards.

Ricker in conjunction with Dankmar Adler, a Chicago arclhitect, acted to pass the Hhnois
Architectural Act in June of 1897. This act requiring the licensing and registration of
practicing architects in Ilhinois, was the first of 1ts type 1 the United States. Currently every
state has similar legislation. Ricker was a member of the 1llinois Board of Examiners of
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Architecture for its twenty years of existence, spending the last eightcen years as president.
He dlso spent two ycars as Chairman for the llinois Commission for Codifying Building
Laws.”” He was also among the original organizers of the University of Illinois Alumni
Association.™

Over thirty years during his vacations, Ricker produced approximately forty translations. He
used his knowledge of French and German to transiate tmportant works so that they would
be available for students. One of his best known translations is Wagner's Modern
Architecture, which Ricker translated in 1902,

In addition to translations, Ricker rescarched roof trusses. He developed two original
formulas for wood and steel rool trusses and had three writings published on (he subject.
Design and Construction of Trussed Roofs, (1885) was the first book published by a faculty
member while associated with the university.  Simplified Formulas for Beams, and Roof
Trusses and three station bulletins on "Roofs," "Basc and Bearing Plates,” and "Deccimal
Classification for Building and Architecturc” followed. ™

In February 1951, Ricker's daughter Ethel Ricker donated his personal library to the
university as an addluon to the School of Architecture's Ricker Library. The collection
included twenty-cight wooden boxes full of volumes of architecture books. The volumes
were In storage for twenly ycars before the donation. Ricker's personal translations were
among those donated.*

Ricker's Buildings

Aside from his administrative and instructional dutics, Ricker was also the Univ Ccrsity
Axchitect. His five campus buildings, 1larker Hall (Chemical Laboratory, 1877), Kenney
Gymnasium Annex (Drtll Hall, 1890), Natural History Building (1893), Aeronautical Lab B

(Metal Shop, 1895; razed 1993) and Altgeld Hall (Library Hall, in conjunction with Campus
Architect Iamn,t, MCLdICll White, 1897), were added to the National Register of Iistoric
Places in 1986." Ru,l\u included his students in the desien and construction of (hese
buildings in the form of shop workers and draftsmen.  The butldings reflect Ricker's
philosophies in design and architecture by displaying historical values and modern
technology. Ricker displayed his advanced knowledee of roofl trusses i the Kenncy Gym
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Annex. The building 1s spanned with trusses to avoid mterior columns that would be
disruptive to military training.*®

Ricker's technical contributions to other buildings included the modern methods of natural
lighting and ventilation employed in the Natural History Building. Each room had a
ventilating flue and steam heat from the main boiler at University Hall. The building's
central corridor contained light wells stretched vertically.”  Acronautical Lab B (Metal
Shop) wzz% designed for maximum flextbility using stecl trusses spanning the entire width of
the shop.

Altgeld Hall, named after Governor John Altgeld was Ricker's [inest design for the campus.
Use or budget constraints restricted other buiidings, but Altgeld Hall did not follow such
restrictions.  Altgeld Hall had a budget of $150,000. Ricker worked on the design of this
building with his colleague James Mclaren White who latcr designed additions for the
building. Altgeld Hall is showcased at 1ts site on the corner of Wright and Green streets, onc
ol the most visible intersections of the campus. Altgeld Hall remains one of the university's
most recognized and loved structures to this day™

Ricker worked on buildings i addition to those on campus, for instance his two-story Queen
Anne style house at 612 West Green Street in Urbana. Ricker built his home in 1892 and it
was described in the newspaper: ‘

One of the most artistic houses from an arclitectural point of view and also for
perfect arrangement and convenience 1t that of Prof. N.C. Ricker on Green
streel.  The cost 15 not far {rom $5,000. Everyone cxpected something
conventent and handsome on account of the Professor's well-known ability as
an at‘c%tcct, and they were not disappointed. He has lately removed to his new
home.

This account of the Ricker House describes its cost, according to simitlar articles, few other
houses in the area cost more than $4,000; theretore, Ricker's house was truly impressive for
the time. Ricker built his home fourtecn years aficr he assumed the position of Dean of the
College ol Engincering. The home, Ricker's only known residential design, was built on the
site of his previous residence, which s located on onc of the main corridors into downtown
Urbana. A comfortable walking distance from campus. This area contained some of the
city's premierc latc nincteenth century houses.
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Although Ricker's house is a private building, it reflects qualities he included in the design of
his campus buildings. Due fo its size and use, 1t was not necessary for Ricker to display his
knowledge of building technology in his residence. However, the fine craftsmanship of
elements such as the newel post, mantels and the glazed ule fireplace surrounds reflects the
use of carpentry in Ricker's campus buildings. The ncwel post used in the residence is
strikingly similar to a newel post in Ricker's Altgeld Hall. which was constructed five years
afier the Ricker House. This rclationship between his residence and his campus buildings as
well as the thirty-two vyears Ricker and his family lived at 612 West Green Street, tightly
associate the housc with the man who designed 1t

Ricker also played a role in the construction of an area church. He served on the building
commitlee and was among the founding members for the National Register-listed Unitarian
Church of Urbana located at 1209 West Oregon strect.  Ricker served as director of the
Unitarian Church construction project (1907-08) and collaborated on the Church's decoration
with Newton A. Wells, a fellow Professor in the School of Architecture. Ricker did not
design the church. The design was provided by the American Unitarian Association in the
form of a bookletl containing eight model churches, which were altered to form the final
design.™ The church still stands on its original site.

Ricker also served as an expert adviser 1n student and public design competitions.  Some of
his noteworthy associations include: Camegie Library, Davenport lowa; high school
building, Burlington, lowa; State Arsenal, Springfield, lllinois; and the Department of Justice
Building, Washington D.C*

Ricker's Personal Life

Aside from his mvolvement in the profession of architecture, Ricker was an active member
of his community. He married the niece of one of the most imfiuenual residents of Urbana,
scrved in community orgamizations and raised a daughter who also became an architect.

Nathan C. Ricker married Mary Carter Steele in August 18750 Mary was the nicce ol Judge
and Mrs. I. O. Cunningham, a prominent and foundimg family of Urbana, llinois. Judge
Cunningham was a lawyer, journalist, and jurist. He also was a friend of Abraham Lincoln
and wrote the first history of the Champaign-Urbana arca.  Mary hived with the
Cunninghams while she attended the University of [llinots.  She graduated in 1875, Mary
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died of iliness in 1910 at the age of fifty-eight."” The couple had one daughter, Ethel Ricker,
who also attended the University of [llinois and studied architecture. She graduated in 1904.
Ethel lived 1n the family home in Urbana until 1927, then moved to the Chicago arca. Ethel
died in 1971 at the age of eighty-eight; she was the last surviving member of her family.**

Ricker was also an active member of the Western Star Lodge No. 240 ALF. & AM. In A
Biographical History of Western Star Lodge, Ricker's service is described:

Brother Ricker was raised in Fraternal Lodge No. 55, A.F. and A M., Maine, on
March 12, 1866. Later, he affiliated with [.a Harpe Lodge No. 19, La Harpe,
Indiana. He affiliated with Western Star Lodge No. 240, Oclober 12, 1874, He
was a member of Champaign Chapter No. 530. Royal Arch Masons and Urbana
Commandery No. 16, Kmghts of Templar having served as  Enuncnt
Commander.”’

Although the information is slightly incorrect (La Harpe is in [thnois), this illustrates
Ricker's contributions to the conumunity beyond the Umiversity of [linois.

Ricker's Legacy

Ricker had a profound impact on the University's School of Architecture and College of
Engineering. His lengthy service brought him into contact with many students. Some of the
most noteworthy students from Ricker's cra include:

Arthur Peabody, for many years supervising architect for the University of
Wisconsin and Wisconsin Siate Architect; Clarence H. Blackall, archuect of
Boston's first steel-framed building; Alfred Fellheimer, co-designer of the
Cincinnati Union Terminal; William 1. Steele, trainee under Sullivan and an
important architect of the Prairic School, William I1. Drummond, noted Prairie
School architect who apprenticed to Irank Lloyd Wright: Walter Burley Guiffin,
another Wright associate and planner of Canberra, Austraba: Henry Bacon.
architeet of the Lincoln Memonal i Washington D.C.oand Mary Lo Page of the

e . 4
class of 1878, perhaps America’s first woman graduate in arclutecture.
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George Rapp, of Rapp and Rapp architects, who designed hundreds of theaters around the
country, also graduated under Ricker in 1899, Ricker's impactl 1s even more impressive
when one realizes the percentage of architcets nationally that studied at the University of
Illinois under Ricker. Ricker was the sole imstructor of architecture for twelve years between
1873 and 1885. The University of Hlinois offercd the only school of architecture outside the
East Coast until 1889. "By 1900, one-quarter of all students cnrolled in architecture schools
in the United States studicd under him. When Ricker retired, his schiool was called the
largest in the world."*’

The foundation that Nathan C. Ricker built at the University of Illinois School of
Architecturc continues to educate new generations of architects. The program, which Ricker
developed around a German model, remains strong i lechnical areas of study and in history,
Ricker's two personal emphases. The Ricker Library of Art and Architecture continues to be
among the best of its kind in the country providing students numerous resources. Ricker's
campus buildings continue to serve the university and its students, providing both [unctional
spacc and pride. The Alumni Quarterly summarized the unportance of Nathan C. Ricker in
April, 1912 by stating, "No onc connected with the University gave more hours during cither
term time or vacation, or worked with greater zeal or less diversion than Professor Ricker."™
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10. Geographical Data

Verbal Boundary Description

Parcel number 92-21-17-111-008 1 the Cunningham Township in Champaign
County, Illinois.

Legal Description

Lot 4 of N.C.R.’s subdivision of lot 1, Block 6 of L. W. Sim’s
addition to Urbana, as per plat reccorded in plat book “B” at page
45, situated in Champaign, County 1llinois.

Boundary Justification

The boundary includes the housc and lot that have historically been
part of Nathan C. Ricker's property and that maintain historic integrity.
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Fiogure 1: First Floor Pian Nathan . Ricker House - Chamipaign County, Hhinots
Drawing by David Gamer,
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Drawn by David Gamer
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Figure 4: View of Nathan C. Ricker House (Circa 1930) Champaign County, Hhmons
Photo from University of Illinois Archives
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Figure 2: Newel Post - Nathan C. Ricker House Champaign County, Hlinois
Drawing [rom Alpha Rho Chi, Anthecmios Chapter






